Left in the Dark



How a lack of understanding of national power generation threatens our way of life

Brigadier John Clark



Left in the Dark

How a lack of understanding of national power generation threatens our way of life

Brigadier John Clark



Policy Exchange is the UK's leading think tank. We are an independent, non-partisan educational charity whose mission is to develop and promote new policy ideas that will deliver better public services, a stronger society and a more dynamic economy.

Policy Exchange is committed to an evidence-based approach to policy development and retains copyright and full editorial control over all its written research. We work in partnership with academics and other experts and commission major studies involving thorough empirical research of alternative policy outcomes. We believe that the policy experience of other countries offers important lessons for government in the UK. We also believe that government has much to learn from business and the voluntary sector.

Registered charity no: 1096300.

Trustees

Diana Berry, Pamela Dow, Alexander Downer, Andrew Feldman, Candida Gertler, Patricia Hodgson, Greta Jones, Edward Lee, Charlotte Metcalf, Roger Orf, Andrew Roberts, George Robinson, Robert Rosenkranz, Peter Wall, Nigel Wright.

About the Author

Brigadier John Clark CBE is a British Army officer who was commissioned into the Royal Engineers in 1999. He has spent the majority of his career working with Airborne Forces although he has also served in armoured and mechanised units and formations, including as a mechanised brigade chief of staff. He has deployed on operations to Northern Ireland, Iraq, Afghanistan (three times) and Cyprus.

Brigadier Clark has commanded at brigade level and below and has experience of war fighting, combat and construction engineering, capacity building/indigenous force training and UN peacekeeping. He has also worked in the Ministry of Defence on the Army Strategy team with specific responsibility for strategic communications and cross-government engagement.

His education includes an undergraduate degree in Arabic (with Islamic Studies and History) from Oxford University and a master's degree in Military Art and Science from the US School of Advanced Military Studies. He attended the Higher Command and Staff Course at the UK's Defence Academy.

Brigadier Clark most recently worked as the Military Assistant to the Prime Minister from September 2016 to September 2018 with responsibility for the political-military interface, all Defence matters and Middle East foreign policy within No 10 Downing Street.

He currently commands 16 Air Assault Brigade, the British Army's Rapid Reaction Force.

Acknowledgements

The author is very grateful to all those who have commented on drafts of this paper, in particular Professors John Bew and Greg Kennedy of King's College London; Doctors Rob Johnson and Nicholas Cole of Oxford University's Changing Character of War Centre; Gabriel Elefteriu of Policy Exchange; and Ed de Minckwitz of the Number 10 Policy Unit.

All views expressed are the author's own.

© Policy Exchange 2019

Published by Policy Exchange, 8 – 10 Great George Street, Westminster, London SW1P 3AE

www.policyexchange.org.uk

ISBN: 978-1-910812-82-2

Contents

About the Author	2	
Acknowledgements	3	
Executive Summary	5	
Why the UK needs a National Power Net Assessment capability	5	
Left in the dark	7	
Introduction	7	
Pragmatism	8	
The nature of national power	9	
The context/current approach	9	
The proposal	12	
The benefits of pursuing the proposal	13	
How to improve understanding of national power	14	
How to improve the generation of national power	14	
Conclusion		
Bibliography	17	

Executive Summary

Why the UK needs a National Power Net Assessment capability

While there has been some thinking on Net Assessment in the UK, including the MOD's announcement in July 2018 of a Strategic Net Assessment capability (analysed by Policy Exchange's Gabriel Elefteriu in his paper, *A* Question of Power), the predominant focus of this has been on hard power alone. There has been insufficient consideration of what national power is in a broader sense; and how it is generated in pursuit of the national interest.

A National Power Net Assessment (NPNA) would provide more accurate assessment of both the soft and hard resources required to generate national power — and the resulting value they bring — so that these are not merely seen as a cost or overhead. This would enable evidence-based political choice and help the government of the day to explain potentially unpopular public spending decisions. A well-founded NPNA would better enable an understanding of relative balances of power, which will in turn improve strategy-making in pursuit of our national interest. It would also contribute to our understanding and exercise of Modern Deterrence, which relies on latent capability (and perceived political will to use it). This is particularly relevant given the 'era of constant competition' in which the nature of deterrence is evolving.

Specific proposals in this research paper include:

- The appointment of a Senior Responsible Owner to guide a NPNA process. Careful thought would need to be given to this appointment in particular whether it should be held by a government official, for example the Cabinet Secretary, or whether the job would be better performed by an independent commissioner.
- A reappraisal of the constituent elements of national power, using those outlined by the Fusion Doctrine as a starting point.
- The development of tools to better measure national power, exploiting modern science and technology including Artificial Intelligence, Big Data and Machine Learning.
- **Re-consideration of the process of assessment.** For example, whether a NPNA would be better as a cross-government exercise (like a Strategic Defence and Security Review), through the offices of an independent inquiry (the Royal Commission model), or

perhaps embedded in a permanent structure similar to the National Audit Office. Another option would be to develop the MOD's Net Assessment tool – the capability it offers would at least need to be aggregated into one of the other models.

Other ideas for consideration discussed in this paper include:

- The establishment of a National Security University.
- The establishment of a National Security Fund.

Left in the dark

Introduction

Since the end of the Napoleonic Wars, the UK has been a leading world power with diplomatic, economic and military strength that has allowed us to shape our own destiny. This secure position has enabled successive governments to focus more time and resources on domestic agendas – spending on health, education and welfare have increased, while spending on the instruments of national power has declined in relative terms. For the purposes of this paper, I consider national power as the capability of a state to secure its interests in relation to other states.

Let us consider this issue in context. Among changes over the last few decades in the balance of power across the world, the UK's international leverage has diminished. Examples include: the slowing of economic growth (under 2% for the first time in living memory in the UK); the UK's move from being a creditor to a debtor nation due to the post-Second World War Anglo-American Loan Agreement, which set the course for a Dollar-led global economy rather than one based on the Pound; broader dependence on the US on many issues of defence and foreign policy since the Suez Crisis in 1956; and the UK's declining economic and military standing relative to the BRIC nations.² This trend looks set to continue,³ alongside uncertainty about the long-term effects of Brexit.

The impact of recent political and economic turbulence is exacerbated by the pace of change associated with escalating technological revolution and the return of Great Power rivalry. We are at a point where internationalism, and with it the benefits of cooperation between states, is being questioned, including by the US, which has underpinned the rules-based international system for the past century. The consequences of this are particularly acute for the UK, a country among the most internationalised in the world. As former rule-makers in the international system, we have much to lose as those rules are questioned; we would do well to be more aware of our history and how others see us as benefitting from the status quo. It is perhaps time that we were more forceful and explicit in making the case for international frameworks and cooperation as a proven way of creating a safer and more prosperous country. This, in turn, would draw attention to a key element of national power generation.

While the recent advent of Fusion Doctrine⁶ is beginning to bring greater coherence to the marshalling of the elements of national power in support of the national interest, the application of the approach will only be as effective as the resources that it can call upon. As it stands, insufficient

- 1. Public Expenditure Statistical Analysis (London:
- World Bank: https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/ NY.GDP.MKTP.KD.ZG?end=2017&locations=US-CN-JP-DE-GB-IN-FR&start=2010&view=chart&year_high_desc=true (accessed February 10, 2019) and James Rogers, Audit of Geopolitical Capability 2019: An Assessment of Twenty Major Powers (London: Henry Jackson Society, 4 Jan 2019), 10.
- Ben Chu, "Is the UK really set to drop out of the world's top 10 economies by 2030 – and does it matter?" The Independent, January 10 (2019).
- 4. It is worth noting that the strength of the Pound (always a theme in major discussions on national security from the late 18th century) has depended on the international order functioning in a specific way (with free trade) and it is often forgotten that Britain went to war with Revolutionary France in 1793 because it violated free navigation agreements on the River Scheldt in the Netherlands.
- John Bew, "Understanding ourselves: Pax Anglo-Saxonica," The American Interest, Volume 10 No 5, (2015).
- 6. National Security Capability Review 2018 (United Kingdom: Cabinet Office, 2018).

thought has gone into how this power is generated. In the same vein, if strategy making "is about getting more out of a situation than the starting balance of power would suggest. It is the art of creating power," then it follows that it is important to have an accurate measure of the power that a nation has at hand and an understanding of how to increase it, or where a diminution can be afforded, in order to make good strategy. In short, we can only enable genuine and responsible political choice on public spending by understanding how national power is generated and maintained, and its benefits to our way of life. There is currently no comprehensive tool or approach to enable this. This paper aims to stimulate work to allow policy makers to address this issue.

It will first consider the nature of national power, arguing that current definitions are too narrow. It will then set out the global context in which the UK is losing out to increasingly powerful rivals, and the national context in which political priorities are focused on domestic programmes, with spending on the instruments of national power often viewed as discretionary or dispersed for political expediency. Next, it will examine the current approach to the generation of national power, arguing that it is ad hoc, insufficiently scientific and stove-piped; and the potentially detrimental implications for our way of life. In the final two sections, the paper sets out some initial thoughts as to how better understanding might be achieved and how improvements could be made to the generation of national power.

Pragmatism

In setting out this proposal, the political as well as practical challenges associated with a more scientific approach are recognised. In Politics Among Nations, Hans Morgenthau, while acknowledging that evaluating national power is necessary, argues that the endeavour is futile as there will be "unknown factors to spoil their calculations" such as natural disasters and unforeseen actions of individuals and states. Nonetheless, technological advances since the latest edition of Morgenthau's work in 1978 must give hope that a more complete and objective analysis of factors is possible. Establishing a baseline understanding, accepting that the situation might change or that the relative weighting of factors might be flawed, at least provides a reasonable starting point for evaluating national power. Without this analysis, the basis for strategy making is simply what Morgenthau terms "the right and wrong hunches made by those responsible for a particular foreign policy of a particular nation, as well as by those who conduct the foreign affairs of other nations."

We might also question whether this degree of calculation and control is achievable in a liberal democracy as some proposals might not be politically palatable. Indeed, we might question why this approach has not been tried or, if it has, succeeded before. But it is important to set out the arguments and not just second guess the politics.

Finally, we could question how much discretion or agency we actually have in terms of the decisions we make in pursuit of the national interest. For

^{7.} Lawrence Freedman, Strategy: A History (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2013). xii.

Hans Morgenthau, Politics Among Nations, 5th Edition Revised (New York: Alfred A Knopf, 1978), 156-158.

^{9.} Ibid., 160.

example, our commitments to alliances, multilateral treaties, international organisations and the rules-based international system often tie our hands. On the other hand, while many recognise the historic value of collective security for the UK, speaking of it as a "spiritual union" (as Ernest Bevin did of NATO) or a higher shared purpose, 10 such unexamined assumptions are being challenged as never before (in a pincer movement from the nationalist right and the hard left).11 Balancing values and interests is always challenging for a power that has invested much in sustaining the system it played a significant part in establishing and it may be that we have little choice but to continue this balancing act. But there are other methods including one of hard-nosed realpolitik. In describing Israel's pragmatic approach to foreign policy, Daniella Peled writes that "a founding principle of its realpolitik was, understandably, that the country was too isolated to be terribly choosy about potential alliances". 12 Perhaps the UK would benefit from just a small dose of such unsentimental pragmatism when thinking about its medium to long-term future.

The nature of national power

This understanding must start with a re-appraisal of what constitutes national power. Typically, the instruments of national power are considered: Diplomatic, Information, Military and Economic.¹³ But this "DIME" formula is outdated given the rapidly changing world and the nature of the tools that a nation now has at its disposal; the equation is much more complex and nuanced. This paper will not dwell on the natural elements that cannot be controlled by the state in the short term: geography, natural resources and population; or national character or morale; or quality of government, all of which Morgenthau reasonably argues must form part of the calculation.¹⁴

It will, instead, focus on the factors that we have greater control over and can generate in shorter order to further our interests. A starting point is the instruments embedded in Fusion Doctrine — if these will be considered in the application of national power, they should also form the basis of its generation. They are: Security (armed forces, law enforcement, covert operations, border control); Economic (economic levers, international institutions, regulation, the private sector); and Influence (development, diplomacy, soft power). There are probably others that could be added to this mix, including: freedom of manoeuvre in space; defensive and offensive cyber capabilities; and control of technology (noting, for example, the potential Chinese ownership of the 5G network).

The context/current approach

What then of the context and current approach?

While it can be argued that changes in the balance of power mean that we are less able to control our destiny, 16 domestic considerations regularly trump the levers of national power when it comes to resource allocation (and the case for Grand Strategy) 17 because a convincing argument is yet to be made as to how the latter enable the former.

- Tom Tugendhat, Defending the Rules (London: Royal United Services Institute, 2018).
- Michael Hirsh, "Why the New Nationalists Are Taking Over", Politico Magazine, June 27 (2016), https://www.politico.com/magazine/story/2016/06/nationalism-donald-trump-boris-johnson-brexit-foreign-policy-xenophobia-isolationism-213995 (accessed July 10, 2019).
- Daniella Peled, "Friends in low places: the curious tale of Israel and its new far-right allies," Prospect, March (2019): 16.
- 13. JDP 0-01. UK Defence Doctrine.
- 14. Morgenthau. Politics Among Nations, 138-146.
- 15. National Security Capability Review 2018, 10.
- Graham Allison convincingly sets out the dynamics and implications of shifts in global power balances in Destined for War: Can America and China escape Thucydides's Trap? (London: Scribe, 2017).
- John Bew and Andrew Ehrhardt, The Case for Grand Strategy in UK Foreign Policy: Making Sense of Britain's Place in a Changing World Order (London: The Policy Exchange, forthcoming 2019).

The voting public often view spending on the instruments of national power as discrete and therefore it becomes a low priority for government spending. This may be partly because of a growing complacency or ignorance about the threats we face coupled with an increasing disinclination for military engagement. In any case, a greater understanding of the interconnectedness of domestic considerations and the instruments of national power would enable a convincing explanation of their relative importance.

While accepting the difficultly of measuring national power given the influence of non-state actors and the impact of rapid technological progress among other developments, current methodologies are inadequate and based on coarse metrics, generalities and truisms. We need hard facts and compelling evidence to inform our understanding. Furthermore we too often focus on the cost rather than the value of the instruments and place disproportionate emphasis on quantitative rather than qualitative assessment.

We are unable to produce a convincing argument, in part, because we do not properly understand the relationships between the instruments. For example, how does the security element contribute to or depend on the economic or influence ones?

The issue was exemplified during the Queen's Speech of 2010 which, even while it declared that the new government's "first priority is to reduce the deficit and restore economic growth", ¹⁸ there did not appear to be consideration of how national security could contribute to a healthy economy other than in the most general terms. No such connection was made in the 2010 Strategic Defence and Security Review (SDSR) either. By 2015, in his foreword to the National Security Strategy, Prime Minister David Cameron noted: "Our strong economy provides the foundation to invest in our security and global influence, which in turn provides more opportunities at home and overseas for us to increase our prosperity." ¹⁹

But it does not appear that any detailed analysis was done to understand the value of defence and security to the economy or vice versa. The same document asserts the security and economic value of elements including alliances such as NATO, soft power, energy and the creative industries, but it is not clear that this was supported by an evidence base or that the correlations between the various elements were understood in any detail. Morgenthau highlights the difficulties of finding these correlations: "... questions referring to changes in one particular factor are not the most difficult to answer. There are others which concern the influence of changes in one factor upon other factors, and here the difficulties increase and the pitfalls multiply."20 But it is only by properly understanding them that we can accurately appreciate the implications of an increase or reduction of one element on the others and therefore the power that the government has at its disposal in support of the national interest. This understanding will also inform decisions on public spending that could deliver greater efficiency and value for money. Finally, clearer and more transparent explanations will enable the government of the day to bring parliament, the media, influencers and voters along with the decision-making process.

Philip Dunne's review²¹ of defence's contribution to prosperity is a useful

^{18.} The Queen's Speech, 25 May 2010.

National Security Strategy and Strategic Defence and Security Review 2015: A Secure and Prosperous United Kingdom (London: Cabinet Office, 2015), 5.2.

^{20.} Morgenthau, Politics Among Nations, 156.

Philip Dunne, Growing the Contribution of Defence to UK Prosperity (London: Ministry of Defence, 2018).

example of this type of analysis but just between two instruments and it only considers this input in a linear sense. For example, we note the value of defence exports and contracts to UK jobs and revenue, but not the actual value of military operations around the world in terms of enabling trade.

Turning to the current generation of national power, it appears to be ad hoc – conducted in stove-pipes along departmental lines. Although some elements are brought together as part of SDSRs, there is no comprehensive tool or approach that recognises the potential of the whole as greater than the sum of the parts. As an example, even if defence is one of the protected departments and growing at 1.7% in real terms over the next two years, this growth is only predicated on the (vitally important) defence of the nation from identified threats rather than on any relation to the other elements of national power.

Drawing on the model of the US Office of Net Assessment in the Pentagon, former Defence Secretary Gavin Williamson's announcement in July 2018 of a Strategic Net Assessment capability²², explored by Gabriel Elefterieu in his Policy Exchange paper,²³ is welcome as a method of better judging relative balances of hard power. But, this methodology should be applied to all the instruments of national power – soft as well as hard – and the relationships between these elements.

 [&]quot;Modernising Defence Programme" - Update to the House of Commons on 18 July 2018, HCWS883, https://www.parliament.uk.

Gabriel Elefteriou, A Question of Power: Towards Better UK Strategy Through Net Assessment (London: Policy Exchange, 2018).

The proposal

In order to militate against loss of international influence we need to take a considered approach to the understanding and generation of national power. In essence, this is about enabling the achievement of our National Security Objectives (Protect our People; Project our Global Influence; Promote our Prosperity) – not just in execution (Fusion Doctrine) but in their creation.

A detailed study should be conducted to assess the merit of establishing a National Power Net Assessment (NPNA) capability. Steps might include:

- The appointment of a Senior Responsible Owner. Careful thought would need to be given to this appointment, in particular whether it should be held by a government official, for example the Cabinet Secretary, or whether it would be better performed by an independent commissioner.
- A reappraisal of the constituent elements of national power using those outlined by the Fusion Doctrine as a starting point.
- The development of tools to better measure national power, exploiting modern science and technology including Artificial Intelligence, Big Data and Machine Learning.
- Consideration of the process of assessment. For example, whether it would be better as a cross-government exercise (like an SDSR), through the offices of an independent inquiry (the Royal Commission model), or perhaps embedded in a permanent structure similar to the National Audit Office. Another option would be to develop the MOD's Net Assessment tool the capability it offers would at least need to be aggregated into one of the other models.

Existing methodologies include the narrative ones used by Morgenthau in Politics Among Nations and Seyed Zarghani in his paper Measurement of National Power: Definitions, Functions, Measurements. Health and scientific methods should be developed maximising the power of data science, machine learning and artificial intelligence. James Rogers' recent publication: Audit of Geopolitical Capability 2019: An Assessment of Twenty Major Powers²⁵ offers an excellent example of such a method.

Areas of study might include:

 Consideration of how the UK has historically generated its power, for example through our co-founding of multilateral organisations, authorship of much of the rules-based international order, and our

Seyed Hadi Zarghani, Measurement of National Power: Definitions, Functions, Measurements (Iran: Ferdowsi University of Mashad, 2010).

Audit of Geopolitical Capability 2019: An Assessment of Twenty Major Powers (London: Henry Jackson Society, 2019).

status as a 'framework nation' for military operations. It is also worth exploring the UK's historical boldness in terms of power projection in areas of commercial interest. John Bew notes: "Acts of belligerence and pre-emption were a recurrent feature of British behaviour on the international stage...Britain was hyperactive and ferocious in defense of its interests." ²⁶

- Assessment of other nations where disproportionate power appears to be achieved, for example Switzerland (the power of banking and financial institutions) and Israel (national character and productivity along with strong alliances).
- How the government should better communicate with parliament and the public to explain the links between national power and our way of life and the requirement to invest in these instruments.
- The education of strategic thinkers at the heart of government including politicians, civil servants and military officers.

The government-issued Aqua Book²⁷ offers guidance on the commissioning, conduct and quality assurance of analysis of this nature. It will be useful to those charged with this work.

The benefits of pursuing the proposal

A NPNA will provide more accurate assessment of the resources required to generate national power – and the resulting value, defined as the ratio of function to \cos^{28} – so that it is not merely seen as a \cos t/overhead. This will enable evidence-based political choice and the ability for the government of the day to explain potentially unpopular public spending decisions.

More specifically:

- It will better enable an understanding of relative balances of power, which will in turn enable better strategy making in pursuit of our national interest.
- It will give us greater confidence in strategic design due to greater assurance of our own strength.
- A more realistic assessment will help to guard against optimism bias in our calculations.
- Knowing what we have at our disposal will support the application of Fusion Doctrine, allowing us to better prioritise resources and pre-empt problems.
- It will contribute to our understanding of Modern Deterrence, which relies on latent capability (and perceived political will to use it) a clear understanding of what we have at our disposal will help our calculations. This point is particularly relevant given the 'era of constant competition' in which the nature of deterrence is evolving.

^{26.} Bew. Understanding ourselves.

^{27.} The Aqua Book: Guidance on Producing Quality Analysis for Government (London: OGL, 2015).

Paul Cornish, Strategy in Austerity: The Security and Defence of the United Kingdom (London: Chatham House, 2010), vi.

How to improve understanding of national power

How then might we improve our understanding of national power? In the first instance, we need to be more scientific and deliberate; accepting that it is not an exact science and there is still room for error²⁹ we can follow the examples of meteorological, political and economic predictions that have become significantly more accurate. The resulting data should be merged with subjective judgement in cross-government process to inform political choice. Such a method will also be key to convincing politicians that there is proper evidence that fits into budgetary controls. Some people will always argue for the "ineffable" qualities of national power because they choose to ascribe heroic qualities to the nation but such arguments are unlikely to convince a sensible chancellor.

A 2005 Rand workshop considered the forms and measurement of national power, proposing the following methodology: strengthen the international futures data set; improve the formulation for forecasting power; enhance the model foundations for forecasting power; develop scenarios.³⁰ This offers a useful guide given its scientific and predictive basis.

How to improve the generation of national power

Once we have improved our understanding, how might we improve the generation of national power?

In the area of security, NPNA can inform calculations as to how much we preserve sovereign capability against how much we rely on alliances. It could also point to areas that achieve the greatest strategic influence, such as Continuous At Sea Deterrence, Carrier-Strike capability, Strategic Air Power, being seen as a framework nation in all domains, leadership of NATO's Allied Rapid Reaction Corps, class-leading Special Forces and cyber capabilities, and a deployable warfighting Army Division. These would be obvious candidates for retention as sovereign capabilities.

It could inform decisions such as how much we are prepared to outsource the procurement of military hardware against sustaining engineering and manufacturing jobs in the UK.

In the field of economics, NPNA will help to guide investment decisions including the use of the Prosperity Fund. The Chinese Belt and Road Initiative offers a good example of economic power being used for political effect. In a recent article in the Economist, Banyan argues that: "Despite China's denials, all the concrete pouring is a giant act of political engineering", he also quotes Bruno Macaes, who writes that: "The Belt and Road Initiative...and its spillovers into politics and society... are not a bug in the project, but its most fundamental feature". Similarly, Donald Trump has called for European car manufacturing to be "classified as a threat to US national security because it robs the country of an industrial base needed to produce military hardware." At home, NPNA will also guide decisions regarding Foreign Direct Investment in our Critical National Infrastructure.

The generation of influence will be partly driven by security and economics but a NPNA will enable us to make deliberate decisions on

- Nate Silver, "A Catastrophic Failure of Prediction" in The Signal and the Noise – Why So Many Predictions Fail But Some Don't (New York: The Penguin Press. 2012): 19.
- Treverton, Gregory F and Seth G Jones, Measuring National Power (US: Rand, National Security Research Division, 2005).
- Banyan, "Belt and Goad: If not a debt trap, Chinese investment in infrastructure is often a diplomatic one," The Economist, February 2 (2019): 52.
- 32. Bruno Macaes, Belt and Road: A Chinese World Order (London: Hurst Publishers, 2018).
- Oliver Moody, "'I like tariffs': Donald Trump threatens transatlantic trade war" The Times Online https://www.thetimes.co.uk/edition/news/us-andgermany-tariff-war-plunges-relations-to-new-low, February 19 (2019).

investment in soft power on the basis of the influence it is likely to bring, thus increasing national power.

We also need to consider the process of decision making — who is involved and how they are selected and educated. The Virtual National Security Academy, established on the back of SDSR 15 is a positive step but thought should be given to extending this to a National Security University. This does not supersede the requirements for the Joint Services Command and Staff College and the broader military education system, but would explore the generation and application of national power at the strategic level beyond the military sphere, educating not just military officers but civil servants concerned with the generation and employment of the instruments of national power, business leaders, scientists and politicians. The US National Defence Academy and the French Institut des hautes études de défense nationale provide useful templates.

Finally, we should consider funding. If we accept that resources are becoming scarcer, we need to think more deeply about their generation and application. Thought should be given to the establishment of a National Security Fund. Peter Roberts argues that such a fund might include the budgets of the military, security and intelligence services, and development spending among other areas.³⁴ Although it would present challenges, not least in governance and presentational terms, such a fund would, in concept at least, enable greater focus and coherence in the generation and application of national power.

A starting point for inclusion should be the resources attracted by the instruments considered by the Fusion Doctrine. Wider benefits of this policy could include:

- Solving the problem of central government mistrusting departments to manage their budgets; and eroding the proprietorial instincts of departments.
- Putting the monetary horse before the cart of Fusion-working.
 When a single department pays for something they want to own it.
- Enabling central decisions to insulate operating costs from longterm capability spend.
- Creating further potential for efficiency savings.

In conducting this work, the Green Book, which has "provided guidance to help officials develop transparent, objective, evidence-based appraisal and evaluation of proposals to inform decision making" ³⁵ will provide a useful handrail.

Peter Roberts, "UK Defence Budget: We are going to need a new financial plan," RUSI Commentary, November 28 (2017), https://rusi.org/commentary/ (accessed February 3, 2019).

The Green Book: Central Government Guidance on Appraisal and Evaluation (London: OGL, 2018).

Conclusion

This paper has argued that we need to recognise shifting balances of power around the world, which point to a net loss of UK power and leverage. In turn, this will reduce our ability to shape world events to our advantage and threatens our way of life.

In order to address this, we need a better understanding of the instruments of national power and how they are generated. Current definitions are too narrow and we do not have a comprehensive tool or approach that recognises the potential of the whole as greater than the sum of the parts. A NPNA offers a method of achieving this.

The paper has recommended further work to allow policy makers to better understand, measure, generate and maintain national power. It has suggested some ways of doing this, including: exploiting technology such as data science, machine learning and artificial intelligence to provide more objective analysis; and the establishment of new machinery and governance structures to oversee the work.

The benefits of adopting such methods are considerable but include: enabling a better understanding of relative balances of power, which will in turn enable better strategy making; and informing political choices on public spending.

Such an approach is necessary to maintain the UK's status as a leading international power and with it our ability to continue to provide for our people.

Bibliography

Books

Allison, Graham. Destined for War: Can America and China escape Thucydides's Trap? London: Scribe, 2017.

Ashcroft, Michael and Isabel Oakeshott. White Flag? An Examination of the UK's Defence Capability. London: MAA Publishing Ltd, 2018.

Bayliss, John, James Wirtz, Colin Gray and Eliot Cohen, eds. Strategy in the Contemporary World. 2nd ed. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2007.

Cimbala, Stephen J. National Security Strategy: Choices and Limits. New York: Praeger Publishers, 1984.

Freedman, Lawrence. Strategy: A History. New York: Oxford University Press, 2013.

Gaddis, John Lewis. On Grand Strategy. London: Penguin Random House, 2018.

Gray, Colin. Modern Strategy. Oxford, Oxford University Press, 1999.

Hobbes, Thomas. Leviathan. Indianapolis: Bobbs-Merrill, 1958.

Holsti, Kalevi J. Peace and War: Armed Conflicts and International Order 1648-1989. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1991.

Kissinger, Henry. World Order: Reflections on the Character of Nations and the Course of History. London: Penguin, 2014.

Liddel-Hart, Basil. Strategy. London: Faber & Faber, 1967.

Lindley-French, Julian. Little Britain? Twenty-First Century Strategy for a Middling European Power, 2^{nd} Edition. London: Personally Published, 2015.

Macaes, Bruno. Belt and Road: A Chinese World Order. London: Hurst Publishers, 2018.

Mearsheimer, John. The Tragedy of Great Power Politics. New York: Norton, 2001.

Morgenthau, Hans J. Politics Among Nations: The Struggle for Power and Peace. 5th ed. New York: Knopf, 1968.

Silver, Nate. The Signal and the Noise — Why So Many Predictions Fail But Some Don't. New York: The Penguin Press, 2012. http://graveleylab.cam.uchc.edu/WebData/mduff/MEDS_6498_SPRING_2016/Nate_Silver_The_Signal_and_the_Noise.pdf (accessed February 4 Feb 2019).

Paret, Peter, ed. Makers of Modern Strategy from Machiavelli to the Nuclear Age. Princeton: Princeton University Press, 1986.

Porter, Patrick. The Global Village Myth: Distance, War and the Limits of Power. London: Hurst & Company, 2015.

Strachan, Huw. The Direction of War: Contemporary Strategy in Historical Perspective. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2013.

Tegmark, Max. Life 3.0: Being human in the age of Artificial Intelligence. Great Britain: Penguin Books, 2018.

Reports

Cornish, Paul. Strategy in Austerity: The Security and Defence of the United Kingdom. London: Chatham House, 2010.

The Royal College of Defence Studies. Getting Strategy Right (Enough). London: Royal College of Defence Studies, 2017.

Treverton, Gregory F and Seth G Jones. Measuring National Power. US: Rand, National Security Research Division, 2005. https://www.rand.org/content/dam/rand/pubs/conf_proceedings/2005/RAND_CF215.pdf (accessed February 6, 2019).

Articles

Alcock, Norman Z and Alan G Newcombe. "The Perception of National Power". Journal of Conflict Resolution Vol 14, No 3 (1970).

Banyan. "Belt and Goad: If not a debt trap, Chinese investment in infrastructure is often a diplomatic one." The Economist, February 2 (2019): 52.

Bew, John. "Understanding ourselves: Pax Anglo-Saxonica." The American Interest. Volume 10 No 5 (2015). https://www.the-american-interest.com/2015/04/09/pax-anglo-saxonica/ (accessed February 17, 2019).

Bew, John and Ehrhardt, Andrew. The Case for Grand Strategy in UK Foreign Policy: Making Sense of Britain's Place in a Changing World Order. London: The Policy Exchange, forthcoming 2019.

Chu, Ben. Is the UK really set to drop out of the world's top 10 economies by 2030 – and does it matter? The Independent, January 10 (2019). https://www.independent.co.uk/news/business/analysis-and-features/uk-world-economy-india-china-turkey-brazil-prediction-market-change-rates-a8720861.html (accessed February 10, 2019).

Elefteriu, Gabriel. *A* Question of Power: Towards Better UK Strategy Through Net Assessment. London: Policy Exchange, 2018. https://policyexchange.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/A-Question-of-Power-Net-Assessment-Gabriel-Elefteriu-Policy-Exchange-November-2018.pdf (accessed February 3, 2019).

Gallege, Hasarel. The Concept of National Power in International Relations. 2012.

Hirsh, Michael, "Why the New Nationalists Are Taking Over", Politico Magazine, June 27 (2016), https://www.politico.com/magazine/story/2016/06/nationalism-donald-trump-boris-johnson-brexit-foreign-policy-xenophobia-isolationism-213995 (accessed July 10, 2019).

Jablonsky, David. "National Power." Parameters, Spring (1997). US Army War College.

Peled, Daniella. "Friends in low places: the curious tale of Israel and its new far-right allies." Prospect Magazine, March (2019): 16.

Roberts, Peter. "UK Defence Budget: We are going to need a new financial plan." RUSI Commentary, November 28 (2017). https://rusi.org/commentary/uk-defence-budget-we-are-going-need-new-financial-plan (accessed February 3, 2019).

Rogers, James. Audit of Geopolitical Capability 2019: An Assessment of Twenty Major Powers. London: Henry Jackson Society, January 4 (2019).

Zarghani, Seyed Hadi. Measurement of National Power: Definitions, Functions, Measurements. Iran, Ferdowsi University of Mashad, 2010. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/289354587_Measurement_of_National_Power_Definitions_Functions_Measurement (accessed on February 10, 2019).

Official Publications

National Security Strategy and Strategic Defence and Security Review 2015: A Secure and Prosperous United Kingdom. London: Cabinet Office, 2015.

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-security-strategy-and-strategic-defence-and-security-review-2015 (accessed January 24, 2019)

National Security and Capability Review 2018. London: Cabinet Office, 2015. https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-security-capability-review-nscr (accessed January 24, 2019)

Philip Dunne MP. Growing the Contribution of Defence to UK Prosperity. London: Ministry of Defence, 2018. https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/723679/20180709_MOD_Philip_Dunne_Review_FOR_WEB_PUB.pdf (accessed February 6, 2019).

Public Expenditure Statistical Analysis, 2018. https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/726871/PESA_2018_Accessible.pdf (accessed February 10, 2019).

The Aqua Book: Guidance on Producing Quality Analysis for Government. London: OGL, 2015. https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/416478/aqua_book_final_web.pdf (accessed February 6, 2019).

The Green Book: Central Government Guidance on Appraisal and Evaluation. London: OGL, 2018. https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/685903/The_Green_Book.pdf (accessed February 6, 2019).

UK Defence Expenditure. House of Commons Library: Briefing paper Number CBP 8175, 8 November 2018. http://researchbriefings.files.parliament.uk/documents/CBP-8175/CBP-8175.pdf (accessed February 10, 2019). Speeches

Williamson, Gavin. Modernising Defence Programme - Update: Written statement - HCWS883. https://www.parliament.uk/business/publications/written-questions-answers-statements/written-statement/Commons/2018-07-19/HCWS883/ (accessed on February 10, 2019).

The Queen's Speech 2010 https://www.gov.uk/government/speeches/queens-speech-2010 (accessed February 17, 2019).

Tugendhat, Tom. Defending the Rules. London: Royal United Services Institute, 29 May 2018. https://rusi.org/event/tom-tugendhat-defending-rules (accessed on February 17, 2019).



£10.00 ISBN: 978-1-910812-82-2

Policy Exchange 8 – 10 Great George Street Westminster London SW1P 3AE

www.policyexchange.org.uk